#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

### NO. 2008-CA-01159

RUSSELL PUCKETT	APPELLANT
V.	
ROBERT N. GORDON, III D/B/A TREY GORDON ROOFINGCONTRACTOR	APPELLEE
APPEAL FROM COUNTY AND CIRCUIT COURTS OF WARREN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI	
BRIEF OF APPELLANT	

## **ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED**

Thomas P. Setser
MSB#
914 Grove Street
Vicksburg, Mississippi 39183
601-638-5300

#### NO. 2008-CA-01159

#### RUSSELL PUCKETT

**APPELLANT** 

V.

# ROBERT N. GORDON, III D/B/A TREY GORDON ROOFING CONTRACTOR

**APPELLEE** 

### Certificate of Interested Persons

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the County Court Judge erred in denying the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff's request for a directed verdict?
- II. Whether the County Court Judge erred in finding that Trey Gordon, Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant, acted as an agent and construction manager for Russell Puckett,
  Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff, rather than a Remodeler, Contractor or Sub-Contractor?
- III. Whether the County Court Judge erred in finding that Russell Puckett committed an assault against Trey Gordon?
- IV. Whether the County Court Judge erred in awarding punitive damages?
- V. Whether the County Court Judge erred in awarding attorney fees to Trey Gordon?
- VI. Whether the County Court Judge erred in dismissing Russell Puckett's assault claim?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A compliant was filed by Trey N. Gordon, III, D/B/A Trey Gordon Roofing Contractor in the Warren County Court, Warren County, Mississippi, on or about September 27, 2006, alleging that Russell Puckett owed him money for work performed by him on Russell Puckett's Katrina damaged home in Vicksburg, Mississippi. The complaint also alleged assault by Russell Puckett against Trey Gordon. Trey Gordon requested compensation for unpaid work performed on Russell Puckett's home, damages for the alleged assault, punitive damages, attorney's fee and prejudgment interest from the date of a demand letter sent to Russell Puckett.

After an extension of time to file an answer was granted, an answer and a counter-complaint were filed by Russell Puckett on or about November 8, 2006. The counter-complaint alleged that Trey Gordon fraudulently misrepresented himself as licensed and bonded contractor, when in fact he was not, that Trey Gordon did not complete the job as the roof still leaked and Russell Puckett was then forced to hire another contractor to finish the job, that Trey Gordon broke a valuable statute located at Russell Puckett's home and that he also stole two valuable carpets belonging to Russell Puckett. Russell Puckett further alleged that Trey Gordon assaulted him in his bedroom and continued to threaten him via the telephone. Russell Puckett requested compensation for the subsequent roof repairs, stolen rugs, and broken statute, damages for the assault, fraud and misrepresentation, punitive damages, attorney fees, pre-judgment interest and post judgment interest.

A subsequent answer to the counter-complaint was filed on or about December 18, 2006, and discovery was propounded by the Plaintiff. A Motion to Docket was made by the Plaintiff on or about April 6, 2007 and at a subsequent hearing the case was set for trial on July 25, 2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Trey Gordon alleges that he extended credit to Russell Puckett to perform the work and therefore was entitled to attorney's fee and pretrial interest pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-53-81

A Motion to Withdraw was filed by Lisa Counts, Esquire, counsel for the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff, on or about July 23, 2007. A Response to Motion to Withdraw was filed by William M. Bost, Jr., Esquire, objecting to withdrawal of counsel and further delay in a trial on the merits in this case. An Order Resetting Case was entered on or about July 24, 2007, relieving Lisa Counts, Esquire, as counsel for Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff, and reset the cause to be heard on August 13, 2007, and further ordered Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff to be present in Court on said date or to have his new retained counsel in Court on said date and to be ready for trial within ten (10) days from that date, so as not to further prejudice the Plaintiff/Counter-defendant.

A Notice of Entry of Appearance was filed by Thomas P. Setser, Esquire, the newly retained counsel for the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff, on or about August 2, 2007.

A Motion for Continuance was filed on behalf of the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff on or about August 10, 2007, to permit him to perform discovery in this matter.<sup>2</sup> On or about August 10, 2007, the Defendant/Counter-plaintiff propounded discovery on the Plaintiff/Counter-defendant. That on or about August 13, 2007, a hearing was held in open Court on the Motion for Continuance and said Motion was denied.<sup>3</sup> A bench trial was set for August 22, 2007, in Warren County Court-Courtroom.

A Motion to Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) or in the Alternative for Summary Judgment was filed on behalf of the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff, alleging that Trey Gordon was an unlicensed Mississippi Contractor and in compliance with Miss. Code Ann. § 73-59-9(3) does not have a remedy either at law or in equity to bring any action and therefore his complaint concerning the unpaid invoice should be dismissed. By written Order dated August 20, 2007, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Defendant/Counter-plaintiff had not filed any type of discovery in preparation of his defense and prosecution of his complaint.

No written Order denying the Motion for Continuance exists.

Motion was denied. A Petition for an Interlocutory Appeal was filed with the Mississippi Supreme Court the same day. On August 21, 2007, said Petition was denied by the Mississippi Supreme Court and the case proceeded to trial on Wednesday, August 22, 2007.

A one day bench trial was held on August 22, 2007, whereby the County Court Judge for Warren County, Mississippi, found for the Plaintiff and Counter-Defendant. Prior to the Plaintiff beginning his case, the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff renewed his Motion for Summary Judgment based on newly attained evidence.<sup>4</sup> The County Court Judge again denied the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment. Upon the Plaintiff resting, the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff made a Motion for a Directed Verdict on all issues raised by the Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant, and the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff's motion was denied.

At the close of the case and after the County Court Judge announcing his ruling, the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff made Motion for Specific Findings of Facts. Said Motion was granted and on or about September 4, 2007, the County Court Judge adopted, with the exception to the additional language added by the County Court Judge, the proposed finding of facts offered by the Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant.

Prior to the Court making specific findings of fact, the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff made a Motion to Re-consider filed on or about August 31, 2007. The Motion to Re-consider was denied on or about September 4, 2007.

A subsequent Notice of Appeal by the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff was filed on or about September 26, 2007, and on or about June 3, 2008, the Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi denied Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff's appeal. A notice of appeal was filed on or about July 3, 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Trey Gordon had filed a Construction Lien with Warren County Chancery Clerk's office in compliance pursuant to Miss Code Ann § 85-7-181 after filing his lawsuit

#### RELEVANT STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellee, hereinafter referred to as "Trey Gordon" or "Trey", is an individual that approached the Appellant, hereinafter "Russell Puckett" or "Russell", a disabled, bedridden individual, to fix the damage to Russell's roof and home caused by Hurricane Katrina. <sup>5</sup> R. at 188. Trey Gordon submitted a written estimate for \$119,300.00 to completely repair the residence. R. at 18-19, 71.

To accomplish this house repair project, Trey Gordon formed a "joint venture' with Ricky Antoine. C.P. at 32, R. at 61. It was agreed between Ricky Antoine and Trey Gordon that Ricky Antoine would repair the wood-work and that Trey Gordon would repair the roof. R. at 61, 106. Further, Ricky Antoine attained the permit from the city for the remodeling project because he was a licensed contractor. R. at 61, 94. Trey Gordon could not attain the permit because the work exceeded \$10,000.00 and he did not have a contractor's license issued by the Mississippi Board of Contractors. R. at 60. Ricky Antoine was paid by Harvey Smith every two weeks upon presentation of an invoice for his work and the work of the subcontractors that he hired performed. R. at 95-97.

During the time that Ricky Antoine was working on Russell's residence, Trey Gordon would periodically come and check on the progress while he continued to work on other customers' projects. R. at 77-78. Prior to Ricky Antoine beginning his work, Trey hired a subcontractor to remove the tree that had caused the damage to the home, which was part of his original estimate for repair to the Feld House. R. at 56-57. Over the entire project, Trey only consulted with Russell Puckett twice on subcontractors that he was going to use to repair the damage to Russell's residence. R.at 184. On those two occasions, after consultation with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Feld House is the name given to Russell Puckett's dwelling. He also sold antiques and other valuable collectables from the home. The House still contains valuable items although the Feld House has closed its doors for business.

Russell, Trey chose not to use the first two subcontractors he had initially chosen to replace the wallpaper and plaster work, but instead hired two other subcontractors to perform the wallpaper work and the plaster work. R. at 184-185. Upon Ricky Antoine completing the wood-work, Trey began repairing the roof to the Feld House. R. at 78-79. Trey utilized Ricky's son to assist him with the work to the Feld House roof. R. at 70. Trey also cleaned windows and assisted with debris removal at the Feld House. R. at 53-4, 78.

About halfway through the project, Trey Gordon submitted on invoice for a sum of \$9,128.81, reflecting work Trey had performed on the project as well as other sub-contractors had performed and was paid by Russell Puckett via Harvey Smith. R. at 29, 143. Trey presented a final bill to Harvey Smith, Russell Puckett's personal assistant and one time employee, just prior to completion of the project for \$17,603.65. R. at 34-40, 143. However, Russell Puckett refused to pay Trey until Russell was satisfied that there were no leaks and that the previous repairs made by Trey Gordon to the Feld House were complete. R. at 74. Ricky Antoine had also prepared a final bill for his work to be paid by Russell Puckett. R. at 34-40, 65.

At the completion of the repairs, Trey Gordon and Ricky Antoine went to the Feld home on or about April 11, 2006, to demand payment for their unpaid invoices. R. at 34-40. Trey and Ricky were escorted to Russell's private quarters by Harvey Smith. R. at 43. Russell was in his bed, the same place he remained for the majority of the remolding project. R. at 45. Trey, a physically larger and stronger individual than Russell, came into Russell's private bed chamber and loudly demanded his money from Russell. R. at 72-3. Russell refused to tender payment until he was ensured that the roof didn't leak and that the other portion of the roof had been properly repaired. R. at 74, 188. Trey Gordon got louder and was hovering over Russell as he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Trey, prior to Hurricane Katrina, had been employed by Russell Puckett to repair leaks in the roof of the Feld House. Russell Puckett had paid Trey in full for that job. Russell had been dissatisfied with the work as the roof

lay in bed. R. at 188, 191. Trey lowered his voice and took step toward Russell threatened him with bodily harm. R. at 191. Russell helpless and trapped pulled a gun and threatened to shoot Trey Gordon if he did not leave. R. at 191. Trey immediately left the bed chamber and eventually left the premises later that day after gathering all his tools. R. at 46. Ricky Antoine, who admitted to having a hearing problem and was in the bedroom during this incident, stayed and spoke with Russell before leaving the Feld House. R. at 101-2. Subsequent to Trey Gordon leaving, Russell and Harvey reported to having received threatening phone calls from Trey Gordon. R. at 199.

After Trey Gordon left the premises, Harvey Smith discovered two valuable Oriental rugs were missing and that an outside cement statute had been damaged. R.at 195. Harvey Smith acknowledged that the carpets or rugs had been initially damaged by the storm and had been sent off to be cleaned and restored. R. at 213. Harvey further recalls receiving them back after being cleaned and that he had stored them in the same room that had been damaged by Hurricane Katrina. R. at 214. Harvey verified that no customers of the Feld House had had access to this room, only those persons that had worked on the repairs. R. at 213.

Upon completion of a the remolding project, Ricky Antoine notified in writing the City of Vicksburg's Permit Department expressing his completion of the job and that Trey and Russell had a dispute over Trey's fee. R. at 115-17. In the letter, that he said Trey Gordon assisted him in writing, he refers to Trey Gordon as a sub-contractor. R. at 117. Further, after filing a complaint against Russell Puckett, Trey Gordon filed a construction lien with the Warren County Chancery Clerk's Land Records pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 85-7-131. R.at 81. Trey

had still leaked. Trey had offered to reduce the amount owed to him for the Katrina repairs by the amount he had been previously paid on the unrelated roofing repair.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Dining Room was the room the tree had damaged. But, only a third of the room was being worked on with the other two thirds protected by a large piece of plastic. Further, the doors to the dining room on the interior of the home had been shut and blocked.

Gordon was not an architect, engineer, surveyor, or materialmen. To claim the relief under Miss. Code Ann. § 85-7-131, he was either a laborer or a contractor.

After Trey Gordon did not receive his money from Russell and after the gun incident, Trey was reported to be more agitated than usual. R. at 131. However, it was also testified to that Trey's business was not steady after completion of the repairs to the Feld House. R. at 132. Trey Gordon did not suffer physically or monetarily because of the gun incident. R. at 80.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Trey Gordon's complaint, as it pertains to the money owed him for his work performed on the Feld House and his participation in the Joint Venture, is directly dependent on his classification or characterization and involvement with the Feld House repairs.

Trey Gordon approached and represented himself to Russell Puckett as a licensed and bonded Contractor. He solicited Russell Puckett to repair the Feld House. Trey Gordon further solicited the assistance of Ricky Antoine, a licensed Contractor, so that Trey Gordon could ascertain a work permit through the City of Vicksburg's Permit Department. Trey referred to Ricky Anointe's involvement as a Joint Venutre. A Joint Venture is exactly what it was. Ricky Antoine repaired the wood-work damaged by the large oak tree that fell on the Feld House and Trey repaired the roof. Both parties, hired sub-contractors to complete specialized areas for the repairs.

Russell Puckett took no part in hiring and/or firing of sub-contractors, except on two occasions that Trey Gordon consulted with Russell. On both occasions, Trey indicated that he thought both subcontractors price for their work was too high. Russell took no part in directed clean-up, tree-removal and subsequent repairs. His only involvement was a cursory inspection of the Dining room once it was near completion. He exercised no control of any of the subcontractors' work and/or Trey and Ricky's work.

He did not tell Trey how to put the roof on the home or how to lay the tile on the roof. He did not instruct Ricky Antoine on how to repair the wood structure or how to drive a nail, etc. In fact he spent most of his time in his bedroom. The only control Russell had over the project was through the purse strings just like any other owner of home or project. The only demand Russell made on Trey for final payment was to ensure the roof did not leak after two wind blown rains.

Trey Gordon was not Russell Puckett's agent but his Contractor. Trey Gordon was not licensed by the Mississippi Board of Contractors. The entire project far exceeded \$10,000.00. Trey's portion of the project far exceeded \$10,000.00. Under Mississippi law, one must have a contractor's license to work on projects in excess of \$10,000.00. If one does not have a license, the unlicensed individual works on the project in violation of Mississippi law and is deprived recovery for work performed, at law or in equity. Trey Gordon was an unlicensed contractor that worked on a project, either as a laborer and/or a contractor, in excess of \$10,000.00. Trey is in violation of Mississippi law and is without a remedy at law or in equity and therefore not entitled to recovery of the unpaid \$17,603.65.

If Trey is not a Contractor, then he was a sub-contractor of Ricky Antoine. Ricky Antoine never directed or controlled Trey Gordon's actions and/or work on the Feld House. Trey Gordon's work on the residential repairs was one of a roofer. Upon completion of the roof, he presented Russell Puckett for final payment. Again this payment exceeded \$10,000.00. A sub-contractor is not entitled to relief against an owner unless he has first presented the owner with a stop-payment notice. Trey Gordon did not present Russell Puckett with a stop-payment notice. Trey Gordon contends that Ricky Antoine was the contractor on job, because he had a license. Assuming that as true, Trey Gordon's action is against Ricky Antoine not Russell Puckett.

Under Mississippi jurisprudence, an individual can be an agent and a contractor simultaneously. Assuming Trey Gordon acted as an agent of Russell Puckett, Trey was still a laborer or contractor for purposes of repairs to the roof. As such, Trey Gordon never produced any invoices distinguishing the work Trey performed as an agent vice work he performed as an independent contractor or roofer, and since no one is contesting he worked as a roofer, then one

must assume that the invoice was for his labor on the roof. Since his roof work exceeded \$10,000.00, he is barred from recovery under Mississippi law.

Russell Puckett is a disabled, bedridden 68 year old gentleman, who appeared in Court in a wheel chair and pajamas. Trey Gordon is a 43 year old man, that has been performing physical labor most of his adult life. On the day the assault took place, Trey came into Russell's private bed-chamber blocking the only means to escape and began demanding, very loudly, payment for his work. When Russell refused, Trey took a step toward Russell, who was still lying in his bed, and threatened him with physical violence. Russell used the only means available to him to protect himself from this perceived threat and that was his personal hand-gun that he keeps near him in his own home. Subsequent to this incident, Trey Gordon called numerous times and threatened Russell Puckett with physical violence. Russell Puckett's actions were in self-defense. Russell Puckett is entitled to verdict in his favor for assault.

As Russell was defending himself and was himself assaulted by Trey Gordon, punitive damages were not warranted against Russell. Further, punitive damages are awarded to deter future misconduct. Under current Mississippi law, a man is permitted to use any means, including use of deadly force to protect himself and his home. Since deterrence is moot issue by legislative action, punitive damages would not be warranted against Russell Puckett, if his actions were deemed to be an assault and not self-defense.

Because Trey Gordon is not entitled to punitive damages, he is not entitled to Attorney's Fees. Trey Gordon claimed Attorney's Fees under two theories: open account and punitive damages. Trey Gordon claims that since he did not request full payment for his services as a contractor up front, which is not the industry standard for repair to homes, that he was acting as a creditor, and Russell had an open account or a line of credit with Trey Gordon, but no evidence other than this bare assertion was ever produced. The type of project that was performed, a

garden variety repair for storm damage, and Trey Gordon's relationship to Russell Puckett directly contradict this assertion that Russell had an open account with Trey Gordon for the work performed on the Feld House. Further, the County Court Judge made no specific findings of fact to rely upon for awarding attorney fees on this theory. The County Court Judge relied solely upon his award of punitive damages to award attorney fees. As punitive damages were not warranted in this case neither were attorney fees.

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