IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-01159

RUSSELL PUCKETT

APPELLANT

versus

FILED

NOV 0 5 2008

ROBERT N. GORDON, III d/b/a

OFFICE OF THE CLERK

TREY GORDON ROOFING CONTRACTOR SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

On Appeal from the County and Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

WILLIAM M. BOST, JR
ATTORNEY AT LAW
MSB
1221 Grove Street
Vicksburg, Mississippi 39183
601.634.1802
(fax) 601.634.1596

BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-01159

RUSSELL PUCKETT

APPELLANT

VS.

ROBERT N. GORDON, III D/B/A
TREY GORDON ROOFING CONTRACTOR

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Gordon submits that to the extent that there was a conflict of testimony or disputed facts at trial, all of these conflicts or disputes were resolved by the trial judge in favor of Gordon.

Gordon presented more than sufficient facts to support the trial court's finding of fact and judgment as rendered. The Circuit Court affirmed this ruling finding it to be "supported by substantial, credible and reasonable evidence and . . . not manifestly erroneous. . . . [T]he County Court Judge correctly applied the law applicable to this case." (Record Excerpts at page 8) The appellate court has to resolve all conflicts of testimony in favor of Gordon, and once that is done, the judgment is entirely appropriate.

Puckett vehemently argues that because of a perceived technical violation of the state licensing law, that he gets the benefit of Gordon's work and services without having to pay for them, and was justified in using a gun to deny payment. There is no clearer case of estoppel. Moreover, it is no violation of the licensing laws for Mr. Gordon to act as Puckett's agent and construction manager. Puckett just ignores the fact that the General Contractor was Ricky Antoine, who secured the building permit and received the bulk of the payments.

indebtedness to Gordon for the work done on his house, all that remains is an examination of Mr. Puckett's disreputable effort to keep both the insurance money and Gordon's work product.

- I The weight of the credible evidence supports the finding of fact adopted by the trial court and the judgment entered in this case.
- A. Gordon was Puckett's agent and construction manager and no state contractor's license was required.

The trial Court made a factual determination that Mr. Gordon functioned as Mr. Puckett's agent and construction manager. The Court found that Mr. Gordon was not the general contractor or a subcontractor. Mr. Antoine was identified by the Court as the general contractor. All of these findings are amply supported by the record. A party can be both an independent contractor and an agent as the two roles are not mutually exclusive. See <u>Aladdin Const. Co.</u>, <u>Inc. v. John Hancock Life Ins. Co.</u> 914 So.2d 169 (Miss.,2005.) The <u>Aladdin</u> case points out the distinction between a contractor and a construction manager. According to <u>Aladdin</u> a construction manager is not an agent and Aladdin implies that, as agent, a construction manager need not have a license because the construction manager in <u>Aladdin</u> had no state license. The Court's analysis as to what is a construction manager vis a vis a general contractor was as follows (citations omitted:)

This Court has defined a general contractor as "the party to a building contract who is charged with the total construction and who enters into sub-contracts for such work as electrical, plumbing and the like." . . . The term "construction manager" has not yet been defined in Mississippi. Other courts have defined the term, however, finding that "[a] general contractor and a construction manager are separate and distinct titles with different responsibilities and different relationships to the parties to a construction project." . . . (the existence of a distinction between "general contractor" and "construction manager" is a question of fact for trial on the merits). While "[t]here is no single, widely accepted definition of construction management," the Plaintiffs cite the

distinction drawn between a general contractor and a construction manager by the Rhode Island Supreme Court in *Brogno v. W & J Associates, Ltd.*, 698 A.2d 191, 194 (R.I.1997). The *Brogno* Court found that "the [construction manager] acts as a mere agent for a project's owner and ... engages 'trade contractors' in his principal's name to perform most or all of the actual work." "Today ... [a construction manager] is more commonly a group, a company, or a partnership with two paramount characteristics: construction know-how and management ability."). On the other hand, a general contractor "is in the chain of liability and ... hires 'subcontractors' in his own name to perform work.". . . The *Brogno* Court also added that "the mere self-serving label of [construction manager] or general contractor will not in and of itself determine a party's legal status."

It is a pity that Mr. Gordon needs to now explain his legal relationship to the man who refuses to pay his just debts, but that is where he is. He did the work. He took no advantage of Mr. Puckett, but devoted his time for six months when there was lot of other work to be done. There was no proof that the subject of Mr. Gordon's license or absence of a license ever came up. Gordon's version is that this was never mentioned other than he told Mr. Puckett he would have to get a general contractor, Mr. Antoine, who was licensed and would secure the permits.

B. Gordon performed his part of the bargain, Puckett received the insurance money to pay him, and Gordon is entitled to his full compensation.

After paying \$59,207.10 to Ricky Antoine, \$9,500.00 for the tree removal, and \$9,128.81 to Plaintiff for his first invoice, Defendant had approximately \$40,464.09 left over to pay Mr. Gordon his \$17,603.65 leaving him a profit off the insurance company of some \$23,000.00, but that wasn't good enough for Mr. Puckett. Basically, he took Mr. Gordon's services (and his \$17,603.65) at gun point. He never argued that the work was done improperly, he was complaining about previous work done by Gordon being defective (an assertion denied by Gordon) and wanting to wait until a driving rain to be sure there were no leaks. But two years later, there were no leaks and he still hadn't paid. It didn't take the trial court long to figure out

that the work was done correctly, that Puckett wasn't out anything if he paid Gordon as agreed, and that Puckett's behavior in all this was less than honorable.

C. Gordon's version of the "gun incident" is credible and corroborated by the sole eye witness. Thus Puckett is guilty of assault and Gordon was entitled to receive the nominal damages awarded by the Trial Court.

Generally, where the wrong is intentional, but the proof of actual damage is slight, nominal damages are appropriate.

Because wilful torts involve a conscious act by the defendant undertaken in disregard of the plaintiff's rights, the law contemplates that a plaintiff is entitled to formal redress for the wrong committed against him even if he cannot demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that he suffered an actual injury as a result. (Citations omitted.)

However, the *Harbin* Court of Appeals went on to hold that the plaintiffs still bear the burden of demonstrating the need for compensatory damages beyond nominal damages, because a plaintiff who has been intentionally wronged without demonstrable injury is to be awarded only nominal damages. See *Whitten v. Cox.*, 799 So.2d 1, (Miss., 2000.)

Appellee submits that he offered substantial proof of the emotional impact of this assault, but has not cross appealed. Clearly, Mr. Puckett was very wrong in what he did and there was nothing to corroborate his version of the events.

D. Puckett being guilty of an intentional disregard of Gordon's rights was liable for the imposition of punitive damages.

The trial court awarded punitive damages on the basis of the ruthless and intentional disregard of Mr. Gordon's rights.

As a general rule, exemplary or punitive damages are 'added damages' and are in addition to the actual or compensatory damages due because of an injury or wrong. The kind of wrongs to which punitive damages are applicable are those, which besides the violation of a right or the actual damages sustained, import insult, fraud, or oppression and not merely injuries, but injuries inflicted in the spirit of wanton disregard for the rights of others.

In order to warrant the recovery of punitive damages, there must enter into the injury some element of aggression or some coloring of insult, malice or gross negligence, evincing ruthless disregard for the rights of others, so as to take the case out of the ordinary rule. **Bradfield v. Schwartz**, 936 So.2d 931, 936 (Miss.2006)

It is hard to imagine a clearer case for punitive damages than where a party uses a gun to keep from paying for services rendered.

The amount of the award, if anything, is insignificant in this case. The factors to be considered are set forth in *Andrew Jackson Life Ins. Co. v. Williams*, 566 So.2d 1172 (Miss.,1990.)

Under current Mississippi law, the "quantum" of a punitive-damages award is measured upon consideration of certain general factors. First, the amount awarded should serve to punish the insurer and to deter it from committing similar offenses in the future. Second, the amount should serve as an example set to deter others from committing similar offenses. Third, the amount awarded should account for the insurer's pecuniary ability and financial worth. And fourth, the amount constitutes compensation for the plaintiff for his or her "public service" in bringing the action.

In this case Mr. Puckett admitted to having a net worth in excess of \$1,000,000.00 and admitted that he did not have to work due to his investments. \$2,500.00 amounts to .25% of his net worth. Evidently, the trial court felt that this quantum of award would serve to punish and deter and maybe set an example to others. It hardly takes into account the defendant's ability to pay and is no reward for Mr. Gordon's public service. However, having said all that, Gordon has not seen fit to cross appeal. He urges that the punitive damage award be affirmed.

E. Attorneys fees were properly awarded and the Appellate Court should grant a reasonable fee to Appellee upon the affirmance of this matter.

Generally attorneys fees can be awarded in cases where there is a written contract making provision for the imposition of attorneys fees, where a statute permits, or where punitive damages

are appropriate. *Hearn v. Autumn Woods Office Park Property Owners Ass'n*, 757 So.2d 155, 164(¶¶ 49) (Miss.1999). In this case, the Court indicated that it was awarding the fees due to the punitive issue and the open account issue. (Transcript at Page 228.) He is right on both accounts.

The statutory basis for the imposition of attorneys fees is found at Miss. Code §11-53-81 which in pertinent part provides:

When any person fails to pay an open account within thirty (30) days after receipt of written demand therefor correctly setting forth the amount owed and an itemized statement of the account in support thereof, that person shall be liable for reasonable attorney's fees to be set by the judge for the prosecution and collection of such claim when judgment on the claim is rendered in favor of the plaintiff.

Exhibit 5 was the §11-53-81 letter sent to Mr. Puckett by registered mail on July 14, 2006 and signed for by Harvey Smith, Mr. Puckett's employee and agent. No issue was ever made as to whether the account was an open account. There is a firm legal basis for awarding attorneys fees both as part of the punitive award and pursuant to statute.

Since fees were awarded at the trial level, it is appropriate to award Mr. Gordon fees of 50% of the amount awarded at trial as attorneys fees for handling this appeal. The Supreme Court has generally awarded attorney's fees on appeal in the amount of one-half of what was awarded in the lower court. See *Grant v. Grant*, 765 So.2d 1263 (Miss., 2000.)

II. Appellant Puckett is estopped from denying payment to Gordon

Puckett retained Gordon to do valuable work requiring a certain degree of skill and some hard work. Puckett couldn't physically do this work. He promised to pay him. This was just after Hurricane Katrina and there was a lot of work that a roofer could be doing, but for some six months, Gordon was almost exclusively tied up on Mr. Puckett's project. Mr. Gordon procured a

settlement of \$118,300.00 for Puckett to pay for the repairs. But after paying the general contractor in full, Puckett decided not to pay Gordon. This refusal was initially based on an assertion that work done earlier by Gordon was unsatisfactory and Puckett wanted to wait until there was a driving rain. The refusal to pay was at the point of a gun. Yet even after several months of driving rain, there was no payment. By the time of the trial, Mr. Puckett concocted another excuse. He felt that even though he had the benefit of the work and had money from the insurance company to pay, he didn't have to pay because Gordon was not licensed as a general contractor.

The Mississippi Supreme Court recently addressed estoppel in the case of *Windham v. Latco of Mississippi, Inc.* 972 So.2d 608 (Miss., 2008). where it was held:

[e]quitable estoppel is "defined generally as the principle by which a party is precluded from denying any material fact, induced by his words or conduct upon which a person relied, whereby the person changed his position in such a way that injury would be suffered if such denial or contrary assertion would be suffered if such denial or contrary assertion was allowed."

To establish equitable estoppel, which "should only be used in exceptional circumstances and must be based on public policy, fair dealing, good faith, and reasonableness [,]" there must be (1) belief and reliance on some representation; (2) a change of position as a result thereof; and (3) detriment or prejudice caused by the change of position." (Citations omitted)

This has long been the rule in this jurisdiction and it absolutely applies to this case.

Puckett had an emergency situation and needed help managing the situation. Gordon says

Puckett called him and Puckett says Gordon was the one who called. But nobody disputes that

Puckett needed Gordon's help and that he got it on his express promise to pay. Puckett used

Gordon to negotiate a settlement with Lloyd's of London that paid him \$118,300.00 after holding
the deductible of \$1,000.00. This figure included, among other things, the cost for Gordon's

Services. Puckett did not have to pay for anything. Lloyd's paid Puckett who just pocketed Gordon's pay. Now Puckett wants this Court to validate his reprehensible conduct. Puckett requested Gordon's help. Gordon spent almost six months working on Puckett's house giving up other work during that Post-Katrina period. Puckett had promised to pay him from the insurance proceeds, but when it came time to pay, Mr. Puckett threatened Gordon with a gun and refused payment.

There must be (1) belief and reliance on some representation. Gordon testified that Puckett asked Gordon to help him remove the tree, negotiate with the insurance representatives, secure a general contractor and other craftsmen and promised to pay him. The trial court accepted Gordon's version of events and even Puckett never said that Gordon was a volunteer. In fact, Puckett paid Gordon's first invoice.

There must be (2) a change of position as a result thereof. Gordon spent money on subcontractors, labored long and hard, and passed up other work after Hurricane Katrina. He helped Puckett secure \$118,300.00. He basically gave up six months of his life to work on this difficult project which was to preserve a historically relevant million dollar home.

There must be (3) detriment or prejudice caused by the change of position. Gordon never got paid. He was threatened with being shot and assaulted by Puckett. At the time he was working for Puckett, Gordon was precluded from taking other work which was plentiful after Katrina. Gordon paid subcontractors from his own money and spent weeks working on Puckett's house which, according to Puckett, was worth over a million dollars.

PMZ Oil Co. v. Lucroy, 449 So.2d 201 (Miss., 1984) is a leading case on the equitable

estoppel issue and contains a very clear explanation as to why Puckett can't get by with his effort at involuntary servitude:

We are concerned here with a doctrine which has its roots in the morals and ethics of our society. Fundamental notions of justice and fair dealings provide its undergirding. Whenever in equity and good conscience persons ought to behave ethically toward one another the seeds for a successful employment of equitable estoppel have been sown.

. . .

Adding flesh to the idea, the courts of this state have always, in proper cases, been prepared to "hold a person to a representation made or a position assumed where otherwise inequitable consequences would result to another who, having the right to do so under all of the circumstances of the case, has in good faith relied thereon and been misled to his injury."

. . .

A party asserting equitable estoppel must show (1) that he has changed his position in reliance upon the conduct of another and (2) that he has suffered detriment caused by his change of his position in reliance upon such conduct.

. . .

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